IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MARIO A. SALAS an Individual,

Appellant,

VS.

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT; AND VISION TECHNOLOGIES, INC., A FOREIGN CORPORATION

Respondents

CASE NO.: 83105

Electronically Filed
District Court Case Nov. 08-2021608:57 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Clerk of Supreme Court Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

KIMBALL JONES, ESQ. Nevada Bar No.: 12982

BIGHORN LAW

3675 W. Cheyenne Ave., Suite 100 North Las Vegas, Nevada 89032

Telephone: (702) 333-1111

Email: kimball@bighornlaw.com

Attorney for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal of a final judgment under NRAP 3A.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal may be properly assigned to the Court of Appeals. This case involves an appeal "from a judgment, exclusive of interest, attorney fees, and costs, of \$250,000 or less in a tort case." NRAP 17(b)(5). Additionally, this appeal does not involve a "question of first impression involving the United States or Nevada Constitutions or common law" or any other issue under NRAP 17(a) which would demand that the Nevada Supreme Court retain the matter.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The NIIA is an "exclusive remedy" for Worker's Compensation Victims only when an employer secures and provides compensation for an injured employee. An employer who does not provide benefits for their employee can be sued under N.R.S. 616B.636. Appellant did not receive Worker's Compensation Benefits as they were rejected by his employer. Did the trial court err in determining that Appellant's "exclusive remedy" was the NIIA despite the Respondents' failure to secure and provide compensation?
- 2. The District Court required Appellant to plead that he had been denied NIIA benefits into his pleadings. This fact would have been necessary only to defeat a later

Affirmative Defense. Did the Trial Court err in requiring Appellant to predict an Affirmative Defense by Defendant?

- 3. Intentional actions are not covered by the NIIA. Did the Court err in overlooking deliberate and intentional actions spelled out in Appellant's Complaint?
- 4. Clark County School District was not Appellant's Employer--did the Court err in applying the exclusive remedy of the NIIA to CCSD?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 28, 2019, at 2832 E. Flamingo Rd., Las Vegas, Nevada 89121, Respondents directed Appellant MARIO A. SALAS to perform Information Technology Services in an area containing a toxic build-up of dust and other particles. The air became ultra-hazardous as Respondents directed the use of compressed air to clean equipment, blowing the toxic particles into the air without ventilation, ensuring Appellant and others would inhale the toxic material. Furthermore, Respondents did not provide Appellant any safety equipment, such as safety masks or safety supplies.

At the time of the subject contamination, division of Respondent Clark County School District, known as User Support Services (hereinafter "USS"), was repurposing used computers that were pulled out of the classroom. USS was using compressed air to clean the dust out of the computers. USS wore dust masks, demonstrating that the dangers of the environment were well known by USS and

Respondents; however, no one else in the building was advised that USS's work would be taking place in the warehouse, nor had they been advised to wear filtration masks or other protective gear. USS's cleaning activities took place indoors in a closed environment, without proper ventilation. The employees working in the space were exposed to the airborne dust. In fact, a co-worker of Appellant, had a severe asthma attack that kept him out of work for several days.

After being exposed, Appellant developed a rash from the toxic dust. When Appellant left work that day he showered and change his clothes, which is not his usual routine.

Despite taking this unusual precaution, within the next twenty-four (24) hours Appellant's arm started to swell and developed blisters. He went to Quick Care and was advised that he had Cellulitis which later went septic. He was given steroids to battle the rash, which was effective at reducing the symptoms for a limited period. When the symptoms would return, steroids were used to temporarily address his complaints. Over the course of the next two (2) months, Appellant developed sepsis, had severe problems with kidney function, and developed pneumonia that ultimately led to a collapsed lung. While he was an inpatient at the hospital, Appellant caught pulmonary Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA). Appellant was then intubated for twelve (12) days while in a medically induced coma, during which time he was administered three (3) separate antibiotics

four (4) times a day for the next six (6) weeks. Appellant was under the care of seven (7) doctors, and lost almost sixty (60) pounds. After his narrow survival, it took one (1) month for Appellant to be able to walk and function again, such that he could be released from the hospital walking with a cane.

On March 9, 2020, Appellant applied for Worker's Compensation Benefits, but was denied by Respondents. APP 72. On June 22, 2020, Appellant re-applied for Worker's Compensation Benefits and was again denied by Respondents. APP 71.

Respondents saw Appellant languishing in a coma due to dust and contaminants that they knowingly placed him in. Respondents knew that Appellant nearly died of sepsis caused by their actions. Respondents still denied him Worker's Compensation Benefits. Appellant, left with no recourse, filed his Complaint on December 8, 2020, alleging negligence and that Respondents "Actively created hazards to [Appellant], and others, by blowing dust and other dangerous particles in dangerous volumes into the air within an enclosed space, without sufficient ventilation." APP 1-31.

Respondents, despite knowing that they denied NIIA benefits to Appellant, asked the Court to dismiss Appellant's case under the "exclusive remedy" provision of the Act. The Court agreed with Respondents and dismissed Appellant's claim. APP105-119.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Appellant's complaint was filed on December 8, 2020. APP 1-31. Respondent Vision Technologies, Inc. filed a Motion to Dismiss on January 22, 2021. APP 32-42. Respondent Clark County School District filed a Joinder to the Motion to Dismiss on January 28, 2021. APP 43-52.

On March 31, 2021, the Court Granted Respondents' Motion to Dismiss and rejected Appellant's request to amend his Complaint. APP 105-119

Appellant requested that the Court Reconsider its Order on April 27, 2021. APP 120-207. Respondent Vision Technologies Inc. opposed Appellant's Motion on May 11, 2021. APP208-219. The Court denied Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration on June 21, 2021. APP 220-232.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 9, 2020, Respondents responded to Appellant and stated that Appellant's request for Worker's Compensation Benefits was Denied. APP 72. On June 22, 2020, Respondents again rejected Appellant's request for Worker's Compensation benefits. APP 71.

Appellant filed a Complaint against Respondents on December 28, 2020, alleging negligence and that Respondents "Actively created hazards to [Appellant], and others, by blowing dust and other dangerous particles in dangerous volumes into the air within an enclosed space, without sufficient ventilation." APP 13.

The court dismissed Appellant's Complaint noting:

This Court cannot, and did not, consider matters outside the Complaint. Nevertheless, Plaintiff's allegations are insufficient. As Plaintiff concedes that he was working within the course and scope of his employment with VTI, the NIIA must be applied as an exclusive remedy. There is no applicable exemption to the exclusive remedy doctrine as Plaintiff does not allege that VTI deliberately and specifically intended to injure Plaintiff. Mere allegation that VTI was aware of the alleged hazardous conditions and failed to correct them or provide safety equipment is inadequate to overcome the NIIA exclusive remedy provision.

Furthermore, Plaintiff admits that his employer, VTI, was hired by CCSD for the work at CCSD's premises; therefore, under N.R.S. § 616A.210, Plaintiff must be deemed to be an employee of the principal contractor, CCSD, for the purposes of NIIA. Thus, again, NIIA exclusive remedy provision is applicable to CCSD. This Court further finds and concludes that Plaintiff's argument that Plaintiff's worker's compensation claim was rejected is irrelevant to the issue at hand. First, Plaintiff did not include this fact in his Complaint. Second, even if the Court entertains this argument that was presented only in Plaintiff's Opposition, N.R.S. § 616C.315 et seq. provides for an appropriate administrative appeal procedure of the rejected claim.

APP 108

The Court also rejected Appellant's request for leave to amend his Complaint if the Court found it wanting. APP 105-119.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

N.R.S. 616B.636, states:

1. If any employer within the provisions of NRS 616B.633 fails to provide and secure compensation under chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, of NRS, any injured employee or the dependents of the employee may bring an action at law against the employer for damages as if those chapters did not apply.

- 2. The injured employee or the dependents of the employee may in such an action attach the property of the employer at any time upon or after the institution of the action, in an amount fixed by the court, to secure the payment of any judgment which is ultimately obtained. The provisions of <u>chapters 31</u> and <u>71</u> of NRS govern the issuance of, and proceedings upon, the attachment.
- 3. In such an action, the employer does not escape liability for personal injury or accident sustained by the employee, when the injury sustained arises out of and in the course of the employment, because:
 - (a) The employee assumed the risks:
- (1) Inherent or incidental to, or arising out of his or her employment;
- (2) Arising from the failure of the employer to provide and maintain a reasonably safe place to work; or
- (3) Arising from the failure of the employer to furnish reasonably safe tools, motor vehicles or appliances.
- (b) The employer exercised reasonable care in selecting reasonably competent employees in the business.
 - (c) The injury was caused by the negligence of a coemployee.
- (d) The employee was negligent, unless it appears that such negligence was willful and with intent to cause injury or the injured party was intoxicated.

In such cases it is presumed that the injury to the employee was the result of the negligence of the employer and that such negligence was the proximate cause of the injury, and the burden of proof rests upon the employer to rebut the presumption of negligence.

N.R.S. 616B.636 (emphasis added).

The trial court overlooked the fact that Appellant was denied TWICE by Respondent in his attempt to petition for benefits. Curiously, the Court held that Appellant was required to include in his Complaint that he had applied and was denied worker's compensation benefits. This requirement would force Appellant to predict whether Respondents would argue the "exclusive remedy" affirmative

defense and defeat it in their initial pleadings. This is not required by Nevada's Pleading Standard.

Moreover, the Court erred by ignoring that NRS 616B.636 allows for Appellant to sue when his employer fails to "provide and secure" benefits for their injured worker. The Court then declared that "N.R.S. § 616C.315 et seq. provides for an appropriate administrative appeal procedure of the rejected claim pursue an administrative appeal upon rejection of his benefits." APP 108.

The Court's Conclusion constitutes a misreading of NRS 616B.636 as the onus is put on the employer to "provide and secure" benefits for the employee. Upon rejection by Respondents, Appellant was not required to exhaust any administrative remedies—the rejection by Respondents constitutes a rejection of the protections proffered by the NIIA. Under NRS 616B.636, Appellant was free to pursue litigation against Respondent.

Moreover, the Court held that "Plaintiff does not allege that VTI deliberately and specifically intended to injure Plaintiff. Mere allegation that VTI was aware of the alleged hazardous conditions and failed to correct them or provide safety equipment is inadequate to overcome the NIIA exclusive remedy provision." APP 138. This conclusion also constitutes a misreading of the Pleadings made by Appellant. Appellant noted that Respondents, "Actively created hazards to [Appellant], and others, by blowing dust and other dangerous particles in dangerous

volumes into the air within an enclosed space, without sufficient ventilation." The use of the term "created" cannot be underappreciated. This use of creation clearly demonstrates intentional actions—with those intentional actions outlined and enumerated in the Pleadings.

The Court improperly considered these pleadings to be insufficient in adjudging that Appellant failed to argue that he was injured by intentional actions by Respondents. The Court also rejected Appellant's request to amend his Complaint if intentional actions were not sufficiently spelled out. APP

Finally, Clark County School District was not Appellant's employer. NRS 616B.603 provides in part that

- 1. A person is not an employer for the purposes of [this chapter] if:
- (a) He enters into a contract with another person or business which is an independent enterprise; and (b) He is not in the same trade, business, profession or occupation as the independent enterprise.

CCSD is in the business of educating Clark County's children. CCSD then contracted with VTI to work on an Information Technology project. This contracting, by statute, removes CCSD as an "employer" who is immune from liability for Plaintiff's injuries.

This Court should confirm that the NIIA only offers its protections to employers who "provide and secure" benefits for their employees. Furthermore the

Court should ensure that Nevada's Notice Pleading Standard is not chipped away.

The district court's dismissal of Appellant's Complaint was improper and this matter should be remanded to the district court for further proceedings.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a trial court's grant of summary judgment and construction of statutes *de novo*, giving no deference to its findings. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026 (2005).

"This court reviews the denial of a motion for leave to amend a complaint for an abuse of discretion." Gardner v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of State, 133 Nev. 730, 732-33, 405 P.3d 651, 654 (2017)

ARGUMENT

A. The trial court erred in determining that the NIIA was the "Exclusive Remedy" for Appellant as Respondents denied Appellant's application for Worker's Compensation Benefits (Issue 1)

Case law and statutory authority make it clear; the "exclusive remedy" protection is only available for companies that comply with their obligation to care for injured workers. In fact, Statute states that it is now **presumed** that these actors injured Appellant

N.R.S. 616B.636 states:

1. If any employer within the provisions of NRS 616B.633 fails to provide and secure compensation under chapters 616A to 616D,

inclusive, of NRS, any injured employee or the dependents of the employee <u>may bring an action at law against the employer for damages as if those chapters did not apply.</u>

- 2. The injured employee or the dependents of the employee may in such an action attach the property of the employer at any time upon or after the institution of the action, in an amount fixed by the court, to secure the payment of any judgment which is ultimately obtained. The provisions of <u>chapters 31</u> and <u>71</u> of NRS govern the issuance of, and proceedings upon, the attachment.
- 3. In such an action, the employer does not escape liability for personal injury or accident sustained by the employee, when the injury sustained arises out of and in the course of the employment, because:
 - (a) The employee assumed the risks:
- (1) Inherent or incidental to, or arising out of his or her employment;
- (2) Arising from the failure of the employer to provide and maintain a reasonably safe place to work; or
- (3) Arising from the failure of the employer to furnish reasonably safe tools, motor vehicles or appliances.
- (b) The employer exercised reasonable care in selecting reasonably competent employees in the business.
 - (c) The injury was caused by the negligence of a coemployee.
- (d) The employee was negligent, unless it appears that such negligence was willful and with intent to cause injury or the injured party was intoxicated.

In such cases it is presumed that the injury to the employee was the result of the negligence of the employer and that such negligence was the proximate cause of the injury, and the burden of proof rests upon the employer to rebut the presumption of negligence.

N.R.S. 616B.636

Respondent Employers have a very compelling carrot to encourage them to "produce and secure benefits" for their injured workers' injuries: being shielded from personal injury litigation. However, there is also a large stick which is used to

ensure that Employers comply with their obligations under the NIIA—they will be presumed to have injured their employee if an action is brought to court.

Respondents shunned the carrot and ignored the stick when they rejected Appellant's requests for benefits on March 29, 2020 and June 22, 2020. APP 71, 72. As a result, under NRS 616B.636, Respondent is then empowered to bring suit against the Respondents.

As the Court has noted, an employer is obligated to provide for his employee's injuries:

Under Nevada law, every employer, within the provisions of NRS "provide chapter 616. must and secure" compensation for injured employees. NRS 616.270(1). In such compensation, employers enjoy providing return for the benefits of the exclusive remedy and immunity provisions under NRS 616.270(3) and NRS 616.370. These provisions grant an employer, including a principal contractor, immunity from "other liability for recovery of damages or other compensation" for the personal injury of any employee arising out of employment. NRS 616.270(3).

Oliver v. Barrick Goldstrike Mines, 111 Nev. 1338, 1342, 905 P.2d 168, 171 (1995).

The onus is on the company to provide compensation, not for a Plaintiff to force the company to grant them benefits when injured. As such, the Trial Court erred in failing to note that Appellant had a right to commence suit against Respondents in this matter due to their denial of his benefits.

B. The trial court erred in requiring Appellant to predict that he needed to note in his Pleadings that he was denied Worker's Compensation Benefits (Issue 2).

As noted above, one of the grounds used by the court in dismissing Appellant's case was, "This Court further finds and concludes that Plaintiff's argument that Plaintiff's worker's compensation claim was rejected is irrelevant to the issue at hand. **First, Plaintiff did not include this fact in his Complaint.** Second, even if the Court entertains this argument that was presented only in Plaintiff's Opposition, N.R.S. § 616C.315 et seq. provides for an appropriate administrative appeal procedure of the rejected claim."

The Court improperly held that Appellant should have pled that his benefits were denied in his pleadings. This requirement violates the letter and spirit of Nevada's notice pleading statute. Appellant is not required in his pleadings to anticipate any arguments and affirmative defenses which a Respondent will make.

Nevada follows the "notice pleading" rule, which requires that a "complaint need only set forth sufficient facts to demonstrate the necessary elements of a claim for relief so that the defendant party has adequate notice of the nature of the claim and relief sought." W. States Coast, Inc. v. Michoff, 108 Nev. 931. 936, 840 P.2d 1220 (1992). The allegations of a complaint need only give fair notice of the nature

and basis of a legally sufficient claim and the relief requested. Ravera v. City of Reno, 100 Nev. 68, 70, 675 P.2d 407, 408 (1984).

To avoid dismissal, a complaint does not need detailed factual allegations; rather, it must plead "enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face." Clemens v. Daimler Chrysler Corp., 534 F.3d 1017, 1022 (9th Cir. 2008); Ashcroft v. Iqbal, - U.S.--, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 1949, 173 L.Ed.2d 868 (2009) (stating that a "claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged").

The Court improperly required Appellant to state far more than "enough facts to state a claim for relief" when it required Appellant to include information which would combat a potential affirmative defense by Defendant. As such, the Court's dismissal was error.

C. The trial court erred in overlooking that Appellant properly pled allegations of intentional conduct by the Respondents, or at a minimum, should have granted Appellant's request to amend his complaint (Issue 3)

The Nevada Supreme Court has held, "A viable intentional tort claim, which subjects an employer to liability outside of the workers' compensation statute, requires the employee to plead facts in his or her complaint that establish "the deliberate intent to bring about the injury." <u>Fanders v. Riverside Resort & Casino, Inc.</u> 126 Nev. 543, 549-50, 245 P.3d 1159, 1163 (2010).

As noted above, Appellant pled that Respondents "Actively created hazards to [Appellant], and others, by blowing dust and other dangerous particles in dangerous volumes into the air within an enclosed space, without sufficient ventilation."

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