IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MARIO A. SALAS, an individual,
Appellant,

VS.

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT; VISION TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,

Respondents.

Case No. 83105

Electronically Filed Jan 07 2022 03:08 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEALS

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada, the Honorable Veronica M. Barisich, District Court Case No. A-20-826012-C

RESPONDENT VISION TECHNOLOGIES, INC.'S ANSWERING BRIEF

MICHELLE D. ALARIE, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 11894
ARMSTRONG TEASDALE LLP
3770 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
Tel: 702.678.5070 • Fax: 702.878.9995
malarie@atllp.com

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court correctly dismissed Salas' negligence claims against his employer, Vision Technologies, and statutory employer, CCSD, because the claim is

barred by the exclusive remedy doctrine of the NIIA. This Court should affirm the district court's Order Granting Dismissal in all respects.¹

The exclusive remedy provision of the NIIA provides that "[t]he rights and remedies provided in chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, of NRS for an employee on account of an injury by accident sustained arising out of and in the course of the employment shall be exclusive." NRS 616A.020(1). This Court has said that "employers who accept the [NIIA] and provide and secure compensation for injuries by accident sustained by an employee arising out of and in the course of employment are 'relieved from other liability for recovery of damages or other compensation for such personal injury." *Outboard Marine Corp. v. Schupbach*, 93 Nev. 158, 164, 561 P.2d 450, 454 (1976) (internal citations omitted). The NIIA forbids suit by the injured employee against his employer because the "exclusive remedy" provision of the NIIA is exclusive in the sense that no other common law or statutory remedy under local law is possessed by the employee against his employer. *Id*.

There is no dispute that Salas alleges he was injured in the course and scope of his employment with Vision Technologies. The district court correctly applied Nevada law requiring that Salas affirmatively plead that the NIIA does not apply to his alleged on-the-job injury in order to maintain his private action for damages. Salas failed to do so in two clear ways.

¹ CCSD will address the fifth and final issue presented of whether the district court correctly applied NRS 616A.210 to conclude that CCSD was Salas' statutory employer for purposes of the NIIA. Vision Technologies joins in that argument.

First, although NRS 616B.636(1) permits an employee to bring an action for damages against his employer if the employer fails to "provide and secure compensation under chapters 616A to 616D," Salas never pled that Vision Technologies failed to have a NIIA-compliant policy of worker's compensation insurance in place at the time of his on-the-job injury to invoke NRS 616B.636(1). (And, to be clear, Salas cannot do so.) Because Salas failed to affirmatively plead that the NIIA does not apply to his on-the-job injury, dismissal was proper.

Salas instead argued (in opposition to dismissal only) that he is entitled to maintain his suit under NRS 616B.636(1) because Vision Technologies denied his worker's compensation claim and refused him benefits. Salas misguidedly reasoned that because Vision Technologies denied his benefits claim, Vision Technologies failed to "provide and secure" worker's compensation benefits for him. interpretation is wrong. "Provide and secure" worker's compensation insurance for purposes of NRS 616B.636(1) means only that an employer enjoys the benefits of the exclusive remedy doctrine, or to be free from tort liability suits, if it obtains a NIIAcompliant policy of worker's compensation insurance for the benefit of its employees, not that the employer must accept and pay all worker's compensation claims submitted. Salas' interpretation renders superfluous whole portions of Nevada worker's compensation statutory scheme, including NRS 616C.295 et seq., which provides an injured employee the right to appeal a contested worker's compensation claim. Under the present circumstances, Salas was not "free to pursue litigation," but should have engaged in the well-established administrative procedures for contested worker's compensation claims.

Second, in order to maintain an action against an employer for intentional injury (and not accidental injury within the purview of the NIIA), Salas was required to allege facts in the complaint showing Vision Technologies' deliberate and specific intent to injure him or plead facts that showed Vision Technologies deliberate intent to bring about the injury. Salas failed to make allegations rising to this level. Instead, Salas merely alleged that Vision Technologies created the hazardous workplace and/or knew of the hazardous workplace condition but still instructed Salas to work therein and failed to provide him with protective equipment. Under Nevada law, hazardous work conditions alone are not an exception to the exclusivity of worker's compensation. Furthermore, an employee must do more than simply label an employer's conduct intentional to avoid the exclusive remedy doctrine. The relevant inquiry is not the degree of negligence or even depravity on the part of the employer, but the narrower question of whether the employer's specific action that injured the employee was an act intended to cause the injury to that employee. Salas failed to affirmatively plead intentional injury to remove his on-the-job injury from the purview of the NIIA. Dismissal on this ground was proper.

The district court also did not abuse its discretion is denying leave to amend the Complaint. First, Salas failed to provide the district court with the proposed amended complaint thereby depriving the district court of the ability to evaluate the amended allegations. Second, after reviewing the proposed amended pleading offered for the first time on reconsideration, the district court reaffirmed that amendment would be futile because Salas was still not able to affirmatively plead the deliberate and specific

intent to injure him that is required to plead an intentional tort and remove Salas' onthe-job injury from the exclusive remedy of worker's compensation.

For these reasons, this Court should affirm the district court's Order Granting Dismissal in all respects.

VII.

ADDITION TO STANDARD OF REVIEW

An order granting a motion to dismiss is reviewed de novo. *See Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 227–28, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008). The reviewing court rigorously reviews a decision to dismiss a complaint under NRCP 12(b)(5) on appeal, with all alleged facts in the complaint presumed true and all inferences drawn in favor of the complainant. *Id.* Dismissing a complaint is appropriate "only if it appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle [the plaintiff] to relief." *Id.* at 228, 181 P.3d at 672. Legal conclusions are reviewed de novo. *Id.*

The denial of a motion to amend is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. See *Kantor v. Kantor*, 116 Nev. 886, 891, 8 P.3d 825, 828 (2000).

VIII.

ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Did Not Err When It Dismissed the Complaint on the Basis that the NIIA was the Exclusive Remedy for Salas' On-The-Job Injury and No Applicable Exception Was Sufficiently Pled.

The exclusive remedy provision of the NIIA provides that "[t]he rights and remedies provided in chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, of NRS for an employee on account of an injury by accident sustained arising out of and in the course of the

employment shall be exclusive." NRS 616A.020(1). This provision is commonly referred to as the exclusive remedy doctrine. This Court has defined an employer's duties and liabilities for workplace injuries as follows:

Employers who accept the (Nevada Industrial Insurance) Act and provide and secure compensation for injuries by accident sustained by an employee arising out of and in the course of employment are 'relieved from other liability for recovery of damages or other compensation for such personal injury . . .' NRS 616.270. This provision, of course, forbids suit by the injured employee against his employer. This "exclusive remedy" provision of the Act is exclusive in the sense that no other common law or statutory remedy under local law is possessed by the employee against his employer.

Outboard Marine Corp. v. Schupbach, 93 Nev. 158, 164, 561 P.2d 450, 454 (1976) (internal citations omitted).

For the reasons discussed more fully below, Salas' lawsuit is an improper attempt to circumvent the long-standing and exclusive remedy afforded employees for injuries sustained on-the-job provided through the NIIA. Salas cannot rely on NRS 616B.636(1) to maintain this action for damages and he failed to plead an intentional tort such that his on-the-job injury is outside the purview of the NIIA.

As a preliminary matter, the Complaint pleads the requirements of NRS 616A.020 thereby making Salas' on-the-job injury exclusively under the NIIA. Salas expressly alleges that Vision Technologies was his employer at all relevant times to this action, including on June 28, 2019, which was the date of his alleged injury. (APP 6, Compl. at ¶ 17.) Salas further alleges that on or about June 28, 2019, while he was working, or more specifically, "acting within the course of [Vision Technologies']

employment and scope of [Vision Technologies'] authority" (*id.*), he sustained injuries because individuals working near him were permitted to use compressed air to clean the dust out of used computers at his work site. (APP 12-13, Compl., at ¶¶ 33-34.) The Complaint pleads, rather than negates the exclusive remedy doctrine of the NIIA.²

1. The District Court Did Not Err When it Dismissed the Complaint Finding that Salas' Failed to Raise NRS 616B.636(1)'s Exception to the NIIA's Exclusive Jurisdiction for On-The-Job Injuries.

Salas cannot find support in NRS 616B.636(1) for his erroneous argument that he may maintain a private action for damages against his employer for personal injury sustained on the job because his employer denied his worker's compensation claim.³

NRS 616B.636(1) provides that "[i]f any employer within the provisions of NRS 616B.633 fails to provide and secure compensation under chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, of NRS, any injured employee or the dependents of the employee may bring an action at law against the employer for damages as if those chapters did not apply."

By its plain language, the failure to "secure and provide compensation under chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, of NRS" refers to an employer's complete failure to have NIIA-compliant workers' compensation coverage in place at all. *See* NRS 616B.636; *see also Flint v. Franktown Meadows, Inc.*, 449 P.3d 475, *2, n. 2 (Nev.

15

² Moreover, Salas admits that worker's compensation is the proper avenue to address his on-the-job injury because he argued in opposition to dismissal that he "appropriately sought out" workers' compensation benefits from Vision Technologies. (APP 57, 71-72.)

³ Although Salas argued at the district court level and now argues on appeal that he made a claim for worker's compensation benefits to Vision Technologies, the record does not support this contention. *See* APP 71-72.

Sept. 26, 2019) (unpublished disposition); see also Antonini v. Hanna Industries, 94 Nev. 12, 18, 573 P.2d 1184, 1188 (1978) overruled on other grounds by Harris v. Rio Hotel & Casino, Inc., 117 Nev. 482, 2f P.3d 782 (2001) (interpreting "provide and secure compensation" under NRS 616.270 as "pay premium to the Nevada Industrial Insurance Fund"); Cummings v. United Resort Hotels, Inc., 85 Nev. 23, 25-26, 449 P.2d 245, 247-48 (1969) (rejecting contention that non-compliance with NIIA reporting obligations constitutes a failure to provide and secure compensation). Salas offers no law supporting his interpretation that denial of a worker's compensation claim alone prompts NRS 616B.636(1)'s consequences.

Indeed, there is an entire statutory scheme within the NIIA, located at NRS 616C.295 *et seq.*, that sets forth an injured worker's rights and obligation with respect to contested worker's compensation claims, including the procedures and timeframe to appeal a wrongful claim denial or failure by the employer or insurer to timely respond to a claim.

Erroneously relying on Nevada's notice pleading rule, Salas argues that he was not required to affirmatively plead that the NIIA does not apply to his on-the-job injury. (Opening Brief, at 13.) In particular, Salas maintains that he was not required to allege that his worker's compensation claim was denied. (Id.) However, Salas argument misses the point.

Statutory immunity under the NIIA is an affirmative defense, which Vision Technologies and CCSD affirmatively pled by bringing their motion to dismiss. *See, e.g., Flint v. Franktown Meadows, Inc.*, 449 P.3d 475, *2 (Nev. Sept. 26, 2019). As such, it is the employee's obligation and burden to allege that the NIIA does not apply

in order to maintain an action in court. *See id.* (citing *See McGinnis v. Consol. Casinos Corp.*, 94 Nev. 640, 642, 584 P.2d 702, 703 (1978) ("In order to state a cause of action which avoids the Nevada Industrial Insurance Act's proscription against common law negligence actions, an injured employee need only allege facts which would remove the claim from the purview of the Act." (citations omitted)).

In *Flint v. Franktown Meadows, Inc.*, this Court upheld dismissal of an employee's negligence and intentional tort claims because the employee failed to rebut the employer's claim of NIIA immunity on a motion to dismiss. 449 P.3d at *2 (unpublished disposition). In doing so, this Court reiterated that NIIA immunity is an affirmative defense, and that when facing a motion to dismiss on NIIA immunity grounds, it is the employee's obligation to allege that the NIIA does not apply in order to maintain an action in court. *Id.* This Court further elaborated that the employee could have met her burden by arguing that her employer failed to provide NIIA-compliant compensation insurance. *Id.*

Here, like the plaintiff in *Flint*, Salas failed to meet his burden to allege that the NIIA did not apply. Accepting all allegations as true, the Complaint asserted all facts necessary for Salas' personal injury claim to be within the scope of the NIAA, and therefore, his personal injury claim was barred by the exclusive remedy doctrine (i.e., employment relationship between Salas and Vision Technologies and injury suffered while in the course and scope of Salas' employment). Fatally, the Complaint did not affirmatively allege that Vision Technologies did not have a NIIA-compliant policy of workers' compensation insurance in place at the time of his injury. (And, to be clear, Salas cannot do so.) Whether Salas did or did not allege his worker's compensation

claim was denied is not the point. Salas failed to carry his clear burden to remove his common law negligence claim against Vision Technologies from the purview of the NIIA.⁴

For these reasons, dismissal of the Complaint was correct and the district court's Order Granting Dismissal should be affirmed on this ground.

2. The District Court Did Not Err in Dismissing the Complaint Because Salas Failed to Allege an Intentional Tort, or that Vision Technologies Acted with the Deliberate and Specific Intent to Injure Him, to Remove His On-The-Job Injury From the NIIA's Exclusive Jurisdiction.

Salas also failed to adequately plead an intentional tort.⁵ Instead, he merely labeled his employer's conduct in creating a hazardous worksite as intentional. Such is insufficient to remove an on-the-job injury from the purview of the exclusive remedy provision of the NIIA.

The exclusive remedy provision of the NIIA provides the exclusive rights and remedies "for an employee on account of an injury by accident sustained out of and in the course and scope of the employment." NRS 616A.020(1). An injury is defined in relevant part, as "a sudden and tangible happening of a traumatic nature, producing an immediate or prompt result which is established by medical evidence." NRS

⁴ Because Salas cannot maintain the instant action under NRS 616B.636(1), Salas similarly cannot assert NRS 616B.636(3)'s presumption "that the injury to the employee was the result of the negligence of the employer and that such negligence was the proximate cause of the injury" in this improperly filed private action.

⁵ Indeed, the Complaint pleads "Negligence as to All Defendants" and utilizes language like "negligently," "carelessly," "recklessly," and "grossly negligent" with respect to Vision Technologies' and CCSD's alleged conduct. (APP 5-14, Compl. at ¶¶ 15-39.)

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